Supreme Court of California Jorge E. Navarrete, Clerk and Executive Officer of the Court Electronically RECEIVED on 10/27/2021 at 4.05.24 PM

S271493





## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

CALIFORNIA WATER SERVICE COMPANY *Petitioner*,

v.

PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA Respondent.

### Decisions No. 20-08-047 and 21-09-047

Of the Public Utilities Commission of the State of California

# PETITION FOR WRIT OF REVIEW

#### AND MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

[Appendix of Exhibits (Vols. I-II) Filed Concurrently]

#### I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- A. Whether the Commission failed to regularly pursue its authority by not providing adequate notice and a meaningful opportunity to be heard (including an evidentiary hearing) before issuing the Revocation Order in violation of CWS's right to due process under the United States and California Constitutions.
- **B.** Whether the Commission failed to regularly pursue its authority by miscategorizing this proceeding as a quasilegislative proceeding instead of a ratesetting proceeding, depriving CWS of the procedural protections associated with that categorization in violation of CWS's right to due process under the United States and California Constitutions.

#### II. STANDARD OF REVIEW

16. This Court is empowered to review Commission decisions. Section 1756(f). For "decisions pertaining solely to water corporations, the review shall not be extended further than to determine whether the commission has regularly pursued its authority, including a determination whether the order or decision under review violates any right of the petitioner under the Constitution of the United States or this state." Section 1757.1(b). The Commission fails to "regularly pursue its authority" if its decision "violates any right of the petitioner under the Constitution of the United States or of this State." *Id*. This Court determines, based on the entire record certified by the Commission, whether the Commission has failed to regularly pursue its authority. *Toward Utility Rate Normalization v. Pub. Util. Comm'n* (1988) 44 Cal.3d 870, 880.

#### III. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

#### A. The WRAM/MCBA is a Critical Water Conservation Tool

17. Beginning in 2008, CWS and other Commission-regulated water utilities have been able to take strong measures to encourage water conservation because of two regulatory mechanisms: the WRAM and the MCBA. These mechanisms address the potential disincentive for water utilities with respect to conservation: as water utilities and their customers achieve greater success in reducing water consumption, this necessarily results in less water being sold and accordingly lower revenues, thereby putting the utility at risk of being unable to recoup the costs of providing safe and reliable water service.

18. The WRAM/MCBA address this problem by decoupling the utility revenues from the amount of water sold. The WRAM tracks under-collected revenues and allows the water utility to recover revenues necessary to operate even where its actual revenues are lower from water conservation. The WRAM works in conjunction with the MCBA, which tracks the decrease in expenses from lower water usage. Together, these important mechanisms work to implement the State's policy to "[p]rovide appropriate incentives to water utilities and customers for conservation of water resources." Section 701.10(c).

-16-

19. Beyond just aligning conservation with the financial operations of the utilities, the WRAM/MCBA are also critical to enabling water utilities to implement conservation-focused "tiered" customer rates to reduce water consumption. This is particularly important as California is expected to face longer and more intense drought conditions due to climate change.

20. Under tiered rates, water rates increase when customers use more water. This provides a clear and straightforward financial incentive for customers to conserve water. However, while these more expensive rate tiers are intended to discourage excessive usage, revenues generated from them become highly variable as customers respond to higher bills by using less water. Consequently, using tiered rates increases the risk that water utilities will fail to recoup the costs of providing safe and reliable water service. By decoupling revenues from water sales, the WRAM/MCBA mitigates this increased risk thereby allowing water utilities to implement aggressive tiered rates to provide strong water conservation signals to customers.

#### B. CWS's Implementation of the WRAM/MCBA

21. CWS first requested Commission authorization to implement the WRAM/MCBA in 2006 in tandem with its request to impose conservation-focused tiered rates. Its application was consolidated into the broader Investigation Proceeding 07-01-022 commenced by the Commission "to address policies to achieve the Commission's conservation objectives for Class A water utilities by requesting comments on increasing block rates, water revenue adjustment mechanisms, rebates and customer education, conservation memorandum accounts, and rationing programs." (Ex. A at 1.)

22. In Decision 08-02-036 in 2008, the Commission authorized CWS to implement the WRAM/MCBA. In that decision, the Commission found that the WRAM/MCBA balances "utility and ratepayer interests and will ensure that neither is harmed nor benefits from the adoption of conservation rates." (Ex. B at 29.)

23. In its subsequent general rate case proceeding Application 09-07-001, the Commission also considered whether to authorize CWS to continue implementing its WRAM/MCBA. The proceeding was categorized as ratesetting and provided an opportunity for hearings. (Ex. C at 7.) In Decision 10-12-017, the Commission adopted a settlement agreement in that proceeding approving the continuation of the WRAM/MCBA. (Ex. D at 32-33.)

24. On April 30, 2012, the Commission issued Decision 12-04-048 addressing an application filed by Cal Water and other water utilities to modify the procedures for amortizing WRAM/MCBA balances. That proceeding was also categorized as ratesetting and provided an opportunity for hearings. (Ex. E at 16.) In that decision, the Commission directed the applicants to provide testimony in their next general rate cases addressing, among other issues, whether the WRAM/MCBA should be eliminated. (Ex. F at 42-43.)

-18-

25. In its next general rate case proceeding Application 12-07-007, CWS provided the testimony directed by Decision 12-04-048 in support of its request to continue the WRAM/MCBA. That proceeding was also categorized as ratesetting and provided the opportunity for evidentiary hearings. (Ex. G at 5.) In Decision 14-08-011 in that proceeding, the Commission approved a settlement agreement authorizing CWS to continue the WRAM/MCBA without modification. (Ex. H at 73.)

26. In its general rate case proceeding Application 15-07-015, CWS expressly requested that the Commission authorize it to include the WRAM/MCBA as a permanent part of Cal Water's rate structure. (Ex. J at 18.) That proceeding was also categorized as ratesetting and provided the opportunity for evidentiary hearings. (Ex. K at 22.) In Decision 16-12-042, the Commission approved a settlement agreement authorizing CWS to continue the WRAM/MCBA and further agreeing that the WRAM/MCBA and associated tiered rate design should no longer be considered a pilot program. (Ex. L at 28.)

27. In sum, the Commission has continuously authorized CWS to implement the WRAM/MCBA in five separate decisions, all issued in ratesetting proceedings that provided the opportunity for evidentiary hearings. The rigorous, evidence-based review of the WRAM/MCBA in each of these prior instances stands in contrast to the cursory evaluation conducted in this proceeding prior to adopting the Revocation Order.

-19-

# C. Scoping of this Proceeding and Adoption of the Decision

28. On July 7, 2017, the Commission issued the Order Instituting Rulemaking ("OIR") commencing proceeding R.17-06-024 ("Rulemaking"), with a stated "Objective of Achieving Consistency between the Class A Water Utilities' Low-Income Rate Assistance Programs, Providing Rate Assistance to All Low-Income Customers of Investor-Owned Water Utilities, Affordability, and Sales Forecasting." (Ex. M at 1.) The scoping memo and ruling issued on January 9, 2018 categorized this proceeding as quasi-legislative and established the issues to be addressed in Phase 1 of the Rulemaking proceeding:

- (1) Consolidation of at-risk water systems by regulated water utilities, with associated sub-issues.
- (2) Forecasting water sales, including questions regarding two sub-issues: (a) how to forecast sales to avoid regressive rates, and (b) guidelines or mechanisms the Commission can implement to improve or standardize water sales forecasting for Class A water utilities.
- (3) Regulatory changes the Commission should consider to lower rates and improve access to safe-quality drinking water for disadvantaged communities.
- (4) What, if any, regulatory changes should the Commission consider that would ensure and/or improve the health and safety of regulated water systems?

(Ex. N at 2-3.)

29. On July 9, 2018, the Commission issued the Amended Scoping Memo and Ruling on July 9, 2018 adding two additional issues to the scope for Phase 1:

- (1) How best to consider potential changes in rate design such that there is a basic amount of water that customers receive at a low quantity rate.
- (2) Whether the Commission should adopt criteria to allow for sharing of low-income customer data by regulated investor-owned energy utilities with municipal water utilities.

(Ex. O at 3.)

30. On June 21, 2019, the Commission released a staff report on a May 2, 2019 workshop held in this proceeding and solicited comments on a series of questions relating to water sales forecasting and low-income rate assistance programs for water utility customers. (Ex. P at 4-5.) In its opening comments filed on July 10, 2019, the PAO made several recommendations, including for elimination of the WRAM/MCBA. (Ex. Q at 13.) The California Water Association ("CWA") filed reply comments on behalf of the Class A water utility respondents (including CWS), objecting that "this was beyond the scope of issues identified for consideration in this proceeding." (Ex. R at 2-3.)

31. The Commission held its final workshop in Phase I of this proceeding on August 2, 2019. The staff report issued for that workshop did not mention elimination of the WRAM/MCBA, although the accompanying September 4, 2019 ruling from the assigned Administrative Law Judge sought comment on whether

-21-

the Commission should consider ordering companies with WRAM/MCBA to convert to alternate rate mechanisms in their next General Rate Cases. (Ex. S at 3.) Notably, that ruling expressly asked parties, "Should this consideration occur in the context of each utility's GRC?" (*Id.*)

32. In response to the September 4, 2019 ruling, CWA filed opening comments on behalf of the Class A water utility respondents, again noting that consideration of whether the WRAM/MCBA should be eliminated was outside of the scope of the proceeding. (Ex. T at 13-15.)

33. On September 23, 2019, the PAO filed reply comments repeating its arguments in favor of eliminating of the WRAM/MCBA and included a graph purporting to show that "water utilities with and without full decoupling WRAM have shown almost identical trends in annual sales fluctuations," claiming that the graph was developed using data purportedly from Class A water utilities annual reports. (Ex. U at 6-7.)

34. The procedural schedule for the proceeding did not provide further opportunities for the parties to dispute the graph's accuracy or the purported underlying data, or to otherwise respond to the materials first submitted only in the PAO's reply comments. Nor did the Commission issue any further scoping memos or other rulings addressing CWA's objections that the issue of whether the WRAM/MCBA should be eliminated was outside of the scope of the proceeding until the issuance of the Proposed Decision ("PD") on July 3, 2020. (Ex. W.) The PD

-22-

marked the first time in the proceeding that the Commission expressly indicated it would be prohibiting CWS and other water utilities from continuing use of the WRAM/MCBA.

35. On July 27 and August 3, 2020, CWS and other parties filed comments on the PD. Among other arguments, CWS objected that the elimination of the WRAM/MCBA was outside of the scope of issues that the Commission indicated would be considered in this Rulemaking proceeding. (Ex. X & Y.) CWS therefore argued that the Commission should defer consideration of that issue to a separate proceeding or to a later phase of the proceeding where it could be appropriately evaluated with the requisite due process afforded. (Ex. X at 14-15.)

36. On August 26, 2020, the day before the Decision was adopted, the Commission issued a revised version of the PD, adding language asserting that the Revocation Order was included under the "Forecasting Water Sales" item included in the original Scoping Memo. (Ex. AA at 53-54.)

37. On August 27, 2020, the Commission voted 4-1 to adopt the Decision, including the Revocation Order. The Revocation Order in Ordering Paragraph 3 of the Decision provides that CWS and the WRAM Utilities "in their next general rate case applications, shall not propose continuing existing Water Revenue Adjustment Mechanisms/Modified Cost Balancing Accounts but may propose to use Monterey-Style Water Revenue Adjustment Mechanisms and Incremental Cost Balancing Accounts." (Decision at 106.)

-23-

38. Commissioner Liane Randolph filed a dissent to the Decision, noting her concerns about potential problems that the Revocation Order presents for low-income customers and negative impacts for water conservation. (Ex. Decision Dissent at 1.)

# D. CWS's Application for Rehearing and the Commission's Rehearing Decision

39. On October 5, 2020, CWS filed its Application for Rehearing explaining, among other objections, that the Decision unlawfully addressed and resolved the issue of whether the WRAM/MCBA could continue without properly providing notice that the issue was considered to be within the scope of this Rulemaking proceeding. (Ex. BB.) CWS also objected to the fact that the elimination of the WRAM/MCBA was a ratesetting action taken without the appropriate due process safeguards because the Commission had chosen to categorize the Rulemaking proceeding as quasi-legislative. (*Id.*)

40. On September 27, 2021, the Commission issued the Rehearing Decision that modified the Decision to remove a Finding of Fact and make some clarifying edits, but otherwise denied CWS's Application for Rehearing. (Rehearing Decision.)

## IV. ARGUMENT: THE COMMISSION FAILED TO REGULARLY PURSUE ITS AUTHORITY IN ISSUING THE REVOCATION ORDER

In effectively abolishing the WRAM/MCBA, the Commission disregarded its own rules and procedures, denied the WRAM Utilities due process, and violated California law. Under Section 1760, this Court must determine, without deference to the Commission's findings or conclusions, whether the Revocation Order therefore must be set aside.

A. The Commission Violated CWS's Due Process Rights and Consequently Failed to Regularly Pursue its Authority by Failing to Provide Adequate Notice that the Revocation Order May Be Considered Within the Scope of the Rulemaking Proceeding.

The Commission violated the due process rights of CWS and other water utilities that had been utilizing the WRAM/MCBA by failing to provide adequate notice in the Rulemaking proceeding prior to adopting the Revocation Order in the Decision. Without such notice, CWS and the WRAM Utilities were not apprised of the need to seek and avail themselves of a meaningful opportunity to be heard on those issues, as guaranteed by the United States and California Constitutions. In failing to afford proper notice and a meaningful opportunity to be heard, the Commission failed to regularly pursue its authority.

## The Commission Must Issue a Scoping Memo in Each of its Proceedings Providing Adequate Notice to Parties of Issues to be Considered in that Proceeding.

While the California Constitution establishes the Commission and empowers it to "establish its own procedures," it expressly provides that those such procedures must comport with statute and due process. Cal. Const., Art. XII, § 2. The United States Supreme Court has stated, "An elementary and fundamental requirement of due process in any proceeding which is to be accorded finality is notice reasonably calculated, under all the circumstances, to apprise interested parties of the pendency of the action and afford them an opportunity to present their objections." Mullane v. Central Hanover Tr. Co. (1950) 339 U.S. 306, 314. Applying this principle to proceedings before the Commission, this Court has likewise explained that "[d]ue process as to the commission's initial action is provided by the requirement of adequate notice to a party affected and an opportunity to be heard before a valid order can be made." *People* v. Western Air Lines, Inc. (1954) 42 Cal.2d 621, 632.

Through statute, the Legislature has already dictated the basic procedural framework for providing due process protections in Commission proceedings. As relevant here, Section 1701.1(c)(1) mandates that in each Commission proceeding, the "assigned commissioner shall schedule a prehearing conference and shall prepare and issue by order or ruling a scoping memo that describes the issues to be considered..." *See also Cal. Motor Transp. Co. v. Pub. Util. Comm'n* (1963) 59 Cal.2d 270, 272 ("all

-26-

hearings, investigations, and proceedings' are governed by sections 1701 through 1709"). In accordance with this directive, Rule 7.3 of the Commission's Rules of Practice and Procedure provides, "[t]he assigned Commissioner shall issue the scoping memo for the proceeding, which shall determine the schedule (with projected submission date), issues to be addressed, and need for hearing." (20 Cal. Code Regs. § 7.3.) These requirements for a formal scoping memo identifying the issues to be considered in each proceeding are intended to provide fair notice to parties who may seek to substantively participate and be meaningfully heard on that matter.

# 2. CWS Did Not Receive Adequate Notice that the Commission Would Be Considering Whether to Eliminate the WRAM/MCBA in this Rulemaking Proceeding.

None of the three scoping memos issued in this Rulemaking proceeding at the time of the Decision apprised the parties that the potential elimination of the WRAM/MCBA or other matters relating to decoupling mechanisms were in fact an "issue to be considered" in this rulemaking proceeding. The original Scoping Memo released on January 9, 2018 identified several issues to be addressed relating to the various topics mentioned in the original OIR, but none of those issues includes the WRAM/MCBA or even decoupling more broadly. (Ex. N at 2-3.) The First Amended Scoping Memo later issued on July 9, 2018 merely identified two more issues to be considered in this proceeding, neither of which were related to the WRAM/MCBA. (Ex. O at 3.) Finally, the Second Amended Scoping Memo issued on June 2, 2020 was entirely related to "potential Commission response to the COVID-19 pandemic" and covers a subsequent and unrelated phase of the proceeding. (Ex. V at 1.) None of these three scoping memos ever reasonably indicated that the elimination of the WRAM/MCBA would be considered in this Rulemaking proceeding.

By comparison, when the Commission previously addressed the WRAM/MCBA in its Rulemaking 11-11-008 proceeding, then-Commissioner Sandoval's Assigned Commissioner's Third Amended Scoping Memo and Ruling Establishing Phase II in that earlier proceeding devoted several pages expressly discussing the WRAM/MCBA and the specific issues that the Commission intended to address with respect to it. (Ex. I at 5-12.) Other previous proceedings similarly demonstrate that when the Commission has addressed the WRAM/MCBA for CWS and other water utilities, it has virtually always identified and addressed it as a discrete issue. However, neither the word "WRAM" nor even the word "decoupling" appear in any the scoping memos, nor does it even appear in the original OIR.

Based on these circumstances, the lack of express discussion in the scoping memos of such a significant and historically contentious issue would suggest to any reasonable observer that the Commission was not going to consider the outright elimination of the WRAM/MCBA in a quasi-legislative rulemaking proceeding purportedly focused on aligning Class A

-28-

water utility low-income customer assistance programs. Yet this is exactly what the Commission did.

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