#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Golden State Water Company
Petitioner,

v.

Public Utilities Commission of the State of California,

Respondent,

California-American Water Company, California Water Service Company, California Water Association, and Liberty Utilities Corp,

Petitioners,

v.

Public Utilities Commission of the State of California,

Respondent.

Case No. S269099

Commission Decisions 20-08-047 and 21-09-047

Case No. S271493

Commission Decisions 20-08-047 and 21-09-047

## ANSWER OF RESPONDENT TO PETITIONS FOR WRIT OF REVIEW

CHRISTINE HAMMOND, SBN 206768 DALE HOLZSCHUH, SBN 124673 \*DARLENE M. CLARK, SBN 172812

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

Moreover, the proffered data, which is not record evidence, only addresses two of Golden State's many service areas. However, the Decision considers the WRAM/MCBA mechanism generically for all the service areas of all the WRAM utilities to make its policy determination. The Rehearing Decision sufficiently identifies the basis for the Decision's findings regarding the existence of substantial under-collections and intergenerational transfers of costs, therefore, Golden State's allegation of obfuscation is unfounded. (Rehrg. Dec. at pp. 14-15 [Golden State Appx. 508-509].)

### Finding of Fact #19

Cal-Am relies on California Manufacturers Assn. v. Public Utilities Com. (1979) 24 Cal.3d 251 and Camp Meeker Water System, Inc. v. Public Utilities Com., supra, 51 Cal.3d 845 to support its claim that the Commission commits legal error when it issues a decision which is unsupported by evidence before it. (Cal-Am at p. 38-39.) However, that is not the situation in this proceeding. Cal-Am's petition provides several reasons for its belief that the evidence relied on by the Decision is faulty, however, it fails to provide references to any evidence in the record that contradicts that evidence. (Cal-Am at pp. 39-43.) Cal-Am merely disagrees with the Commission's policy determination. It has not shown legal error.

Cal-Am alleges Finding of Fact #19 is unsupported by the record. Finding of Fact #19 states:

Implementation of a Monterey-Style WRAM means that forecasts of sales become more significant in establishing test year revenues.

This Finding of Fact is supported by Public Advocates Office's comments, which addressed incentives to develop accurate forecasts:

[T]he Public Advocates Office strongly supports the development of forecasts that are as accurate as possible for both revenues and expenses. When revenue variances are tracked in decoupling mechanisms (i.e., Water Revenue Adjustment Mechanisms (WRAMs)), and/or expenses are tracked in balancing and memorandum accounts, it reduces the financial repercussions to the utility of inaccurate forecasts. This, in turn, reduces the utility's incentive to develop accurate forecasts. This can result in misguided attempts by Water IOUs to lower rate increases in General Rate Cases (GRCs) with artificial forecasts that are deliberately inaccurate (e.g. higher adopted sales quantities or lower proposed expenses), with the resulting variances recovered through different mechanisms between GRC cycles that provide for rate increases via a less transparent process.

(Reply Comments of the Public Advocates Office on Administrative Law Judge's Ruling Inviting Comments on Water Division Staff Report and Modifying Proceeding Schedule, July 24, 2019, at p. 2 [Resp. Appx. 015].) Public Advocates Office further addressed the incentive to manipulate forecasts to produce smaller increases in rates:

Utilities should not propose and the Commission should not adopt sales forecasts with any particular rate outcome in mind. Instead of lowering noticed rate impacts with [higher] than reasonable sales forecasts and allowing new mechanisms to "stagger the impact on customers into smaller increments" as suggested by CWA, the water utilities should propose accurate forecasts openly and transparently in GRCs. Customers should not be required to face the

continued uncertainty of stealth rate increases that accompany the operation of existing—much less new—alternative rate mechanisms.

(*Id.* at pp. 2-3 [Resp. Appx. 015-016].)

Cal-Am argues, more specifically, that there is no record to support the claim that eliminating the WRAM/MCBA will provide better incentives to more accurately forecast sales. To support this argument, it alleges that there is no factual or evidentiary support for Public Advocates Office's statements regarding risks associated with forecasting, on which the Decision relied. (Cal-Am at p. 41.) As discussed above, party comments are the record evidence in rulemaking proceedings. Moreover, Cal-Am cites to no record evidence that contradicts Public Advocates Office's comments.

Similarly, Cal-Am erroneously argues that there is nothing in the record that addresses whether sales forecasts are more significant with the Monterey-Style WRAM, as stated in Finding of Fact #19. (Cal-Am at p. 41.) Public Advocates Office's quoted language above stating that when revenue variances are tracked in decoupling mechanisms like the WRAM, it reduces the financial repercussions to the utility of inaccurate forecasts, contradicts Cal-Am's arguments. Logic dictates when revenue protection for inaccurate forecasts is discontinued, forecasting becomes more significant, both to the utility and the ratepayer.

#### Conclusion of Law #4

Cal-Am next alleges Conclusion of Law #4 is unsupported by the record. Conclusion of Law #4 states:

Elimination of the WRAM/MCBA will provide better incentives to more accurately forecast sales while still

providing the utility the ability to earn a reasonable rate of return.

Conclusion of Law #4 is based on the language in the Decision on page 18 [Golden State Appx. 296], which reads:

In addition, parties highlighted the reality that drought is the new normal in California and that forecasts need to be more accurate so that WRAMs can be smaller, and that the Monterey-Style WRAM would provide better incentives for parties to more accurately forecast sales while still providing the utility the ability to earn a reasonable rate of return.

This statement is supported by Public Advocates Office's Comments on Phase I Issues, in which it discusses the reduced risk associated with WRAMs:

... [W]ith revenue decoupling for water utilities,[fn.] the impact on water utilities of forecast variance is muted since nearly all revenue forecast risk has been transferred from utility investors to ratepayers. As a result of the WRAM decoupling mechanism in California, variance in forecasted revenues manifests not as the normal business risk underpinning rate-of-return regulation but as the perceived cause of large WRAM balances and increased customer surcharges.

By mitigating the consequences of inaccurate sales forecasts, WRAM and other decoupling mechanisms can be reasonably assumed to not only reflect variances in sales forecasts but to exacerbate the actual size of the variance.

(Public Advocates Office Comments on Phase I Issues February 23, 2018, at p. 8 [Cal-Am Appx. 70].) The discussion on increased risk associated with converting WRAMs to M-WRAMs in Southern California Edison's

Comments also support that statement:

In certain situations, implementing a Monterey-Style WRAM with a MCBA may balance the benefits and risks of implementing a conservation rate design more equitably among stakeholders. However, implementing a Monterey-Style WRAM as opposed to a full decoupling WRAM requires shareholders may be required to make up the difference for any shortfalls in authorized revenue not related to the use of a conservation rate design that far exceeds normal business risk. [fn.]

(Southern California Edison Comments on Staff Report, September 16, 2019, at p. 4 [Cal-Am Appx. 97].)

Finally, Cal-Am argues that the Commission's conclusion that utilities will still have the opportunity to earn a reasonable rate of return is contradicted by Cal-Am's experience in Monterey. First, Cal-Am's experience in Monterey is not in the record of this proceeding. More importantly, the Commission did not set rates in the Rulemaking so the Decision does not affect rate of return. In future GRCs of the water utilities, the Commission will make the appropriate changes necessary to provide water utilities the opportunity to earn a reasonable rate of return.

Moreover, Cal-Am provides no citations to the record to support any of these allegations, but refers to language in its comments to the Proposed Decision, which is not part of the evidentiary record.

# D. The Commission considered the impact of its decision on conservation and low-income customers.

Golden State and Liberty contend that the Decision violates section 321.1 subdivision (a) by failing to consider the consequences of the Decision on all ratepayers and on low-income customers. Petitioners' claims are unfounded. As discussed below, the Decision addressed the elimination of the WRAM and its effect on ratepayers.

The relevant part of section 321.1 subdivision (a) requires the Commission to assess the consequences of its decisions:

It is the intent of the Legislature that the commission assess the consequences of its decisions, including economic effects . . . as part of each ratemaking, rulemaking, or other proceeding, and that this be accomplished using existing resources and within existing commission structures.

More specifically, Golden State and Liberty argue that nothing in the record addresses how elimination of the WRAM will impact low-income customers. (Golden State at pp. 43-45, Liberty at pp. 38-39.) However, "[t]he plain language of the statute only requires the Commission to 'assess' the economic effects of a decision. It does not require the Commission to perform a cost benefit analysis or consider the economic effect of its decision on specific customer groups or competitors." (Order Instituting Rulemaking on the Commission's Own Motion to Establish Consumer Rights and Protection Rules Applicable to All Telecommunications Utilities Rehearing Decision [D.06-12-042] at pp. 17-18.)

Similarly, Cal Am contends that the Commission erred by failing to consider the consequences of the Decision on rate design, conservation, and low-income customers. Golden State, Liberty, and Cal-Am cite *United States Steel Corporation v.* Public Utilities Commission (1981) 29 Cal.3d 603, 608-609 (U.S. Steel) to support this contention. (Golden State at p. 43, Liberty at p. 38, Cal Am at pp. 32, 38.) However, U.S. Steel is not on point. In that case, this Court annulled the Commission's decision because the Commission refused to consider the economic effect of authorizing different rates for similar services over similar routes. That decision was the result of a ratesetting proceeding. As discussed above, the challenged Decision in this case came out of a rulemaking proceeding. Here, the Commission requested comments on whether it should consider discontinuing the WRAM/MCBA and the water utilities chose not to put forth any substantive evidence. Now, Cal Am is arguing that the Commission failed to consider evidence it provided in its comments on the Proposed Decision, well after the proceeding was submitted. (Cal Am at pp. 32, 38.) Likewise, Golden State and Liberty allege the Commission failed to consider extra-record evidence. (Golden State at p. 44, Liberty at pp. 38-39.)

It is well established that an agency's duty is to weigh the relevant evidence provided in a proceeding. However, Cal-Am offers nothing to show that the Commission failed to consider all the relevant evidence in this proceeding. For example, it asserts that the Commission failed to consider the potential rate design impacts of eliminating the WRAM and in doing so, the

Commission failed to consider the effect of changed rate design on conservation and low-income customers again citing to its comments on the Proposed Decision, which is not record evidence. (Cal-Am at pp. 33-37.)

Cal-Am's claims are unfounded. The Commission did not set rates in the instant proceeding, therefore, there is no impact on rate design for the Commission to consider. The Commission has considered the material facts and weighed the relevant evidence provided in the record of this proceeding. (Decision at pp. 68-69 [Golden State Appx. 345-346].)

In its consideration of the economic impacts of the Decision, the Commission explains that the appropriate place to address how each utility will provide for conservation and low-income customers, is in the water utilities' individual general rate cases, where rate design can be tailored to the specific circumstances of each district, in the setting of rates. (Decision at p. 68 [Golden State Appx. 345].) CWA's comments, on behalf of the water utilities, reflect a similar opinion:

While the Commission should rightfully strive to set forth general principles and goals for the utilities to achieve in this proceeding, many of the details of implementation are going to depend on the specific circumstances for each utility district and so should be addressed on a district-by-district basis. This will require a careful and nuanced approach.

(Comments of CWA Responding to the Administrative Law Judge's September 4, 2019 Ruling at p. 18 (CWA Appx. 165).)

As stated above, the appropriate place for the Commission to address rate design, on a district-by-district basis, is in a general rate case proceeding in which the Commission sets rates for that specific water utility. Petitioners have failed to show the Commission erred.

# E. The Commission properly characterized the proceeding as quasi-legislative.

Cal Water argues that the Commission erroneously mischaracterized the proceeding as quasi-legislative rather than ratesetting, which deprived it of procedural rights available only in ratesetting proceedings.

First, Cal Water claims that eliminating the WRAM is an unlawful ratesetting action, so it was improper for the Commission to categorize the proceeding as quasi-legislative. (Cal Water at p. 40.) Section 1701.1 subsection (d)(1) defines quasi-legislative cases as proceedings that establish policy, including, but not limited to, rulemakings and investigations that may establish rules affecting an entire industry. R.17-06-024 is an order instituting rulemaking proceeding that established rules for the entire water industry. It is not a ratesetting proceeding because the Commission was not setting rates for any specific utility. (Pub. Util. Code § 1701.1 subd. (d)(3).) The discontinuation of the WRAM was a policy decision affecting all water utilities, which will be applied in future rate proceedings. While the ordering paragraph identified the utilities that currently employ the WRAM, the adopted policy is applicable to all water utilities. (R.17-06-024 at p. 19, Ordering Paragraph #7 [Cal Water Appx. 70].)

Further, once the Commission has categorized a proceeding, section 1701.1 subsection (a) states, in relevant part, "the decision as to the nature of the proceeding shall be subject to a request for rehearing within 10 days of the date of that decision or of any subsequent ruling that expands the scope of the proceeding. Only those parties who have requested a rehearing within that time period shall subsequently have standing for judicial review . . . ."

As discussed above, the issue was explicitly presented in the September 2019 ALJ Ruling Inviting Comments. At that time CWA, on behalf of the water utilities, filed comments regarding that issue. If Petitioners believed the ALJ had expanded the scope of the proceeding, they had ten days in which to seek rehearing on the original categorization. The parties may not now challenge the categorization of the proceeding.

Next, Cal Water argues that it was denied procedural protections as a result of the improper categorization. (Cal Water at pp. 41-43.) As discussed above, the proceeding was not miscategorized, therefore no procedural protections were denied.

Cal Water next contends that the Commission violated sections 728 and 729 by eliminating the WRAM because it effectively fixed water rates without holding a hearing. (Cal Water at pp. 43-45.) Cal Water's contention is not correct as the Commission did not fix any water rates. Both section 728 and 729 address the Commission's authority to fix rates. Cal Water fails to identify any rate that was set during the proceeding. 13

 $<sup>^{13}</sup>$  Cal Water cites caselaw to show that "these statutory provisions have been construed by the California Supreme Court

Accordingly, Cal Water's related argument that mischaracterization of proceedings is a recurring issue that the Court must address to stem an onslaught of petitions for writ of review challenging future Commission decisions is entirely devoid of merit. It improperly references applications for rehearing that are pending before the Commission that were filed subsequent to the issuance of D.20-08-047, the challenged decision in this case. (Cal Water at pp. 45-46.) The Court should strike this argument and the associated exhibit as Cal Water may not introduce new or additional evidence in its Petition. (Pub. Util. Code § 1757.1 subd. (c).) The issues in those applications for rehearing are not properly before this Court.

#### VI. CONCLUSION

For the reasons discussed above, each of the petitioners has failed to demonstrate any basis for the Court to grant its writ petition. As a result, the Commission respectfully requests that the Court deny every petition.

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